STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SFP 17 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JANE KATHERINE HUGHES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000659

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. In this murder trial, did the trial judge err in refusing to instruct the jury on the law of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature when there was evidence from which the jury could decide that Appellant only committed an assault and battery that did not result in death?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for conspiracy when the State failed to prove that an agreement existed between Appellant and anyone else to commit murder?
3. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant trial counsel's motion to be relieved as counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2015, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Jane Katherine Hughes, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. In June of 2017, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for conspiracy. On April 4, 2018, Appellant, with her brother and co-defendant, Jacob Cody Hughes, proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on just the murder and conspiracy charges as the State elected not to go forward on the weapon charge. (R. p. 26, lines 7-10). Lauren M. Taylor represented Appellant at trial. Brian P. Johnson represented the co-defendant. L. Mark Moyer prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty of both charges. The jury found the co-defendant not guilty of murder but guilty of conspiracy. Judge Gravely sentenced Appellant to thirty (30) years for murder and five (5) years concurrent for conspiracy. Judge Gravely sentenced the co-defendant to four (4) years for conspiracy. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 10, 2018. This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the trial judge's failure to charge assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature for abuse of discretion. "In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct.App.2006). Generally, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). A charge to the jury is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. Id. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-73.

"In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review only errors of law." State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 307, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). An appellate court is bound by a trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829.

"The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). "The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense." Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513; see also State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]'s decision absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id. at 570, 647

S.E.2d at 166–67. “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” Id. (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 463 S.E.2d 597 (1995); State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994)).

In reviewing the trial judge’s failure to direct a verdict of acquittal on the conspiracy indictment this Court must view the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. If there is either any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the defendant’s guilt, appellate courts must find that the trial judge properly submitted the case to the jury. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). “A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d

at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court's denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

This Court reviews the trial judge's refusal to grant trial counsel's motion to be relieved for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 152-53, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). "[A] motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001) (citation omitted). An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendants. Fuller v. State, 347 S.C. 630, 557 S.E.2d 664 (2001). The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction. *See* Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 359, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993) citing Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980). However, a defendant need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest. Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254 (2001); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984) *citing* Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 348-350, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 1718-19, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was indicted for murder and conspiracy involving the shooting death of John Ferrell, her estranged husband and the father of her two young children. Appellant and Ferrell were involved in a highly contested custody dispute. At the time of the shooting, Appellant, her boyfriend, Andrew Martin and her two children were living with her parents, John and Margaret Hughes. (R. p. 306, lines 15-17). Martin testified at trial that on the day of the shooting John Hughes, Appellant's father, told him that he was trying to arrange a meeting with Ferrell at the house to work out the custody issue. (R. p. 312, lines 9-25). Martin was asked to stay out of sight so as not to be a detriment to the custody case. (R. p. 313, lines 13-15). According to Martin, on the night of the shooting he was in the backyard when he heard a loud crash inside the house. (R. p. 315, lines 4-11). Martin testified that he went inside to investigate and, "[w]hen I entered the sliding glass door, I saw framed in the kitchen entry way, Jane with a hammer, John Michael Hughes with a gun, John Ferrell on his knees bleeding, and Jacob Hughes behind him." (R. p. 315, lines 21-25).

Martin testified that he pulled Appellant back and took the hammer out of her hand so she could call the police. (R. p. 318, line 19 – p. 319, lines 1-12). The State entered a CD of Appellant's call to 911, State's exhibit #94, in evidence without objection¹. (R. p. 55, lines 11-19). The 911 call was later played for the jury. (R. p. 448, lines 6-7). According to Martin, Ferrell tried to escape through a kitchen window but Appellant's mother, Margaret Renee Hughes, and co-defendant brother, Jacob Hughes, tried to prevent him from going out the

¹ When the call is later played for the jury trial counsel stated, "Subject to my previous objection." (R. p. 448, line 4). No objection was made, however, when the exhibit was entered in evidence.

window. (R. p. 320, lines 6-22). When asked if Ferrell made it out of the window, Martin answered that he believed Ferrell made it out of the window because he did not use the door and his body was found outside. (R. p. 321, lines 1-9). Martin testified that he saw John Hughes go outside and then Martin heard several gunshots. (R. p. 321, line 14 – p. 322, lines 1-11). Martin stayed seated on a bench in the foyer with Appellant until they were asked to leave the house when the police arrived. (R. p. 323, line 24 – p. 324, lines 1-3). Ferrell died as a result of multiple gun shot wounds. (R. p. 371, lines 2-3). The pathologist also testified that Ferrell had non-lethal injuries consistent with being struck by a hammer. (R. p. 381, lines 1-11).

Martin was in the back yard and could not testify about what happened before he walked into the house. When asked if Appellant told him why she did what she did with the hammer Martin answered, “She said she did it because her dad hesitated. And that she did what she had to do to protect her family.” (R. p. 324, lines 18-19).

The Bishop of the church the Hughes attended asked another church member, Christine Boisher, if she and her husband could talk with the Hughes family about the custody situation because Boisher had served as a guardian-ad-litem and had experience with the family court. (R. p. 415; line 17 – p. 416, lines 1-10). Boisher and her husband met with John and Margaret Hughes, Jane Hughes and Andrew Martin. (R. p. 417, lines 23-25). Boisher and her husband also met with the Hughes the night before the shooting. Boisher testified that Appellant was angry about a court hearing in a few days to address custody issues. (R. p. 439, line 15 – 25). Boisher also testified, “And she [Appellant] said, I wish he [Ferrell] was just gone. Things would be so much easier if he [Ferrell] was just gone. And everybody chuckled.” (R. p. 440, lines 12-14). Appellant and Ferrell lived in California until Appellant moved back to South Carolina with the children. (R. p. 234, lines 9-21).

The State introduced evidence that earlier in the evening Jacob Hughes and Ferrell went to the Station Bar for two to three hours and then went to the Waffle House. (R. pp. 450-457). The time stamp of video surveillance showed the two leaving the Waffle House at approximately 11:20 PM. (R. p. 456, lines 1-12). The 911 call was made at 11:54 PM. (R. p. 55, lines 5-9). The State also introduced evidence of text messages and phone calls between John Hughes and Jacob Hughes prior to the shooting. (R. pp. 461-464). The State did not introduce any evidence of text messages or phone calls between Appellant and either Jacob or John Hughes.

At sentencing the prosecutor told the judge, "Other than regarding Jane Hughes, Your Honor sentenced her father, who was the shooter, to 40 years. It is our contention that she is just as guilty, if not more so, than her father. And that this was all because of her. And we would ask the Court for a similar sentence as you gave her father." (R. p. 585, line 21 – p. 586, line 1). Neither Appellant nor her brother co-defendant had any prior criminal record. (R. p. 586, lines 6-7).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. In this murder trial, the trial judge erred in refusing to instruct the jury on the law of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature when there was evidence from which the jury could decide that Appellant only committed an assault and battery that did not result in death.**

During the trial the judge asked for proposed jury instructions and trial counsel stated, "I don't have mine typed up because I thought we were doing that after lunch. I just have one additional. I was going to request an ABHAN." (R. p. 393, lines 17-19). The judge indicated that he would review the proposed instructions during the lunch break. (R. p. 393, lines 20-21). Later, the judge denied the requested jury instruction on assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature [ABHAN] stating, "As to the jury charge, I know that Defendant Jane Hughes has – had requested a charge for ABHAN, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. And I think that is a totally separate issue and would not be – that would be a separate charge. It would not be a lesser included offense of the charges here. So I'm going to decline to charge that. But, at this time, I'll be glad to have anybody put anything on the record they need to." (R. p. 507, lines 6-15).

Trial counsel responded, "Certainly, Your Honor. May it please the Court. As I stated in chambers and just to put it on the record, I do believe that there's been sufficient evidence that the State has introduced, at this point, that establishes that the Defendant – or the victim died from a gunshot wound. I believe gunshot wound number four, the pathologist testified to – that that was the mortal wound and cause of death. And so that is the basis for me asking for the instruction." (R. p. 507, lines 18-25). The trial judge responded, "And I understand your argument. Again, I find that, under the law, that would not be appropriate to charge." (R. p. 508, lines 1-3). The trial judge erred.

The murder indictment alleges, "That JANE KATHERINE HUGHES did in Greenville County, on or about the 24th day of January, 2015, unlawfully and with malice aforethought kill JOHN MICHAEL FERRELL by means of shooting him multiple times with a handgun and assaulting him with a hammer, and that JOHN MICHAEL FERRELL dies as a proximate result thereof. This in violation of §of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended." The State sought to prosecute both Appellant and her brother by accomplice liability, hand of one is the hand of all, as the evidence showed that the father, John Hughes, was the shooter. The prosecutor argued accomplice liability, hand of one is the hand of all, in closing argument. (R. p. 537, lines 10-18). The judge instructed the jury with the law on accomplice liability, hand of one is the hand of all. (R. p. 571, line 8 – p. 572, lines 1-17). The jury had two specific questions about the hand of one is the hand of all charge. (R. p. 579, lines 7-10; p. 580, lines 6-8). There is evidence in the record from which the jury could have determined that Appellant, in striking Ferrell with the hammer, was guilty only of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and not guilty of murder by accomplice liability, hand of one is the hand of all. The jury, however, was not given this option.

In State v. Fields, 314 S.C. 144, 145, 442 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1994), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "Whether AB and ABHAN are lesser included offenses of murder is a novel question in this State. We now hold where there is no dispute the victim died as a result of the battery alleged in the indictment, AB and ABHAN are not lesser included offenses of murder. See Martin v. State, 342 So.2d 501 (Fla.1977) [superseded by rule as stated in Daugherty v. State, 211 So.3d 29 (Fla. 2017); Commonwealth v. Myers, 356 Mass. 343, 252 N.E.2d 350 (1969)." In Fields the deceased died as a result of the battery alleged in the

indictment, a beating. In contrast, in the present case, Ferrell died as a result of the shooting, alleged in the indictment but not the battery with the hammer alleged in the indictment.

In State v. Tyler, 348 S.C. 526, 531-32, 560 S.E.2d 888, 890 (2002), the South Carolina Supreme Court found error with the trial court equating ABHAN and manslaughter but found the error harmless writing:

Accordingly, we find any choice the jury had in the present case between manslaughter and ABHAN was not premised upon malice or the absence thereof, but upon whether it found Tyler's actions had proximately resulted in her husband's death. Given that the possibility of an ABHAN or ABIK verdict was not premised upon malice or a lack thereof, but upon the proximate cause of the victim's death, we find the erroneous ABHAN charge did not contribute to the jury's verdict, such that any error was harmless. See State v. Jefferies, 316 S.C. 13, 446 S.E.2d 427. (1994) (erroneous jury charge which does not contribute to jury's verdict is harmless).

At trial Tyler presented evidence that her husband's death may have been caused by medical malpractice and the trial judge properly charged the jury that if they found that Tyler's actions did not proximately cause her husband's death, then they could consider the assault and battery charges. While the present case does not involve an allegation of medical malpractice, it does involve a proximate cause issue. The jury could have found that Appellant's actions in striking Ferrell with a hammer did not proximately cause his death. The jury should have been instructed with the law on assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature.

In Com. v. Myers, 356 Mass. 343, 349-50, 252 N.E.2d 350, 354 (1969), the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, Suffolk, wrote:

Whether assault and battery is a lesser included offence of which a defendant may be convicted under an indictment for murder is a question which appears not to have been discussed by this court. There is, however, an intimation in Commonwealth v. Vanetzian, 350 Mass. 491, 215 N.E.2d 658, that assault and battery is a lesser included offence.¹ Elsewhere it is generally held that assault and battery is a lesser included offence in an indictment charging unlawful homicide. Keel v. State, 29 Ala.App. 191, 194 So. 416. State v. Myers, 59 Ariz. 200, 201, 207-208, 125 P.2d 441. Sullivan v. State, 236 Ind. 446, 452, 139 N.E.2d 893,

Bailey v. State, 146 Miss. 588; 593. State v. Cochrane, 151 Ohio St. 128, 84 N.E.2d 742. Antoscia v. Superior Court, 38 R.I. 332, 336, 95 A. 848. See State v. Robinson, 182 Kan. 505, 509—510, 322 P.2d 767; 40 Am.Jur.2d, Homicide, s 535.

There are varying views, however, as to what circumstances require an instruction that a verdict of assault and battery may be returned. Contrast Marts v. State, 26 Ohio St. 162, 169; State v. Champion, 109 Ohio St. 281, 287—288, 142 N.E. 141; State v. Cochrane, 151 Ohio St. 128, 129—130, 84 N.E.2d 742, and State v. Myers, 59 Ariz. 201, 202—208, 125 P.2d 441, with Sullivan v. State, 236 Ind. 446, 139 N.E.2d 893, and with State v. Robinson, 182 Kan. 505, 509—510, 322 P.2d 767. Of these views that enunciated by the Supreme Court of Ohio seems to us the most desirable, and we adopt it. Under that rule there must be an instruction on assault and battery if, but only if, the evidence raises a reasonable doubt that the acts of the defendant did not cause the victim's death. Marts v. State, 26 Ohio St. 162, 169; State v. Champion, 109 Ohio St. 281, 287—288, 142 N.E. 141; State v. Cochrane, 151 Ohio St. 128, 129—130, 84 N.E.2d 742.

In the present case there is no question that the purported act of Appellant striking Ferrell with a hammer did not cause his death. Ferrell's death was caused by gunshot wounds not a hammer. The jury should have been instructed on ABHAN. "In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant." Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). "The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law." Pittman, 373 S.C. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167. The trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury with the law of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature constitutes an error of law. The error is not harmless.

2. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for conspiracy when the State failed to prove that an agreement existed between Appellant and anyone else to commit murder.

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