ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Greenville County
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge**

RECEIVED
SFP 23 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JANE KATHERINE HUGHES,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2018-000659.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

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

Here, the record leaves no dispute as to Appellant’s involvement in the aggregate chain of actions that, as indicted, caused the victim’s death. Both the assault with the hammer and the shooting are alleged in Appellant’s indictment. (R. pp. 595-596). The hammer assault was concurrent to John Hughes’s bearing down on the victim with a pistol. (R. p. 315, line 21 – p. 318, line 7). The assault caused the victim to escape from the scene and John Hughes and the Appellant in turn reacted as accomplices in fatal shooting: Martin urged Appellant to call 9-1-1

wherein she can be heard instructing others to “get” the victim, and John Hughes ran out the front door with his handgun and shot the victim who begged for his life. (R. p. 318, line 19 – p. 322, line 20).

Appellant was indicted and tried under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all, was not merely present at the scene, and by all accounts took part with the confederate in the events causing the victim’s death. The fact that Appellant wielded the hammer and not the pistol does not dissolve her culpability as an accomplice to the undisputed batteries alleged in the indictment. *State v. Harry, supra*; *State v. Fields*, 31 S.Ct. at 146 n.1, 442 S.E.2d at 182 n.1; see *State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000) (“It is well-settled that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense.”). To focus, as Appellant does, on a sole gunshot wound is to remain blind to the remainder of Appellant’s actions as an accomplice in the end result. Rather, the situation is analogous to *Fields* and the ABHAN instruction was not warranted. Moreover, since the record also fails to reflect that Appellant was guilty *only* of the lesser offense of ABHAN, it was not error to refuse the requested instruction. *State v. Geiger, supra*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR ISSUE II

“On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014). The trial court should deny a motion for directed verdict as to any charge when “there is ‘any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” *State v. Phillips*, 416 S.C. 184, 193, 785 S.E.2d 448, 452 (2016) (quoting *State v. Littlejohn*, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955)). “In reviewing a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not with its weight.” *Id.* at 192, 785 S.E.2d at 452. While “the jury must consider alternative hypotheses, the court must concern itself solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016) (emphasis in original).

II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion as to the conspiracy charge because testimony established Appellant acted with at least one other family member in planning and carrying out a murderous attack upon the victim.

Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the basis that the State failed to present evidence that Appellant engaged in a conspiracy with family members prior to the shooting. (R. p. 499, lines 6-9). Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the trial court denied the motion. (R. p. 499, lines 10-12; R. p. 500, lines 4-11). This ruling finds support in the record laid by the State.

“A conspiracy is a combination or agreement between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing a criminal or unlawful object, or of achieving by criminal or unlawful means an object that is neither criminal nor unlawful.” *State v. Sims*, 377 S.C. 598, 606, 661 S.E.2d 122, 126 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 387 S.C. 557, 694 S.E.2d 9 (2010) (internal quotations

and citations omitted). “The essence of a conspiracy is the agreement.” *State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 323, 555 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2001). It must be shown that the defendant is connected to the conspiracy and “intended to act together [with at least one other] for their shared mutual benefit within the scope of the conspiracy charged.” *State v. Sims*, 377 S.C. at 607, 661 S.E.2d at 126 (internal quotations and citations omitted). An overt act is not required. *Id.* at 606, 661 S.E.2d at 126. Neither is proof of an express agreement. *State v. Buckmon, supra*. Also, “direct evidence is not essential, but the conspiracy may be sufficiently shown by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” *Id.* Conspiracy “may be proven by the specific overt acts done in furtherance of the conspiracy but the crime is the agreement.” *Id.*

Here, the scope of the conspiracy was an agreement among one or more members of the Hughes family to do away with the victim and thus unlawfully procure custody of Jane’s children.² John Hughes told Martin that he was arranging for the victim to come to their house to resolve the child custody case “out of court.” (R. p. 312, lines 19-25). Martin was instructed to sit outside “so as not to be a detriment to the custody case.” (R. p. 313, lines 1-25). Jacob and John Hughes exchanged calls and text messages to coordinate the victim’s arrival at the Hughes’s home. (R. p. 460, line 18 – p. 464, line 7). The messages included repetitive usage of “green dragons and elm trees” which may be interpreted as code for the plan against the victim. In what may be circumstantially discerned as more coded communication, the Hughes men referenced “dessert,” and Jacob asked John to signal when he was “ready for pie.” (R. p. 461, lines 18-25; R. p. 462, lines 1-9).

² To the extent Appellant’s argument relies upon the evidence cited by the trial court when it ruled on her co-defendant’s directed verdict motion, a criminal defendant cannot utilize a co-defendant’s objection at trial to raise an issue on appeal. *See State v. Carriker*, 269 S.C. 553, 238 S.E.2d 678 (1977) (while appellant’s codefendant did object, the appellant may not utilize the objection of another defendant to gain review).

Then Martin walked in, uninvited, to witness Jane, Jacob, and John each engage in a role in the attack upon the victim. (R. p. 315, lines 9-24). Jane repeatedly and violently assaulted the victim over the head with a hammer, which was corroborated by the forensic pathologist's autopsy examination. (R. p. 317, line 22 – p. 318, line 2; R. p. 380, line 14 – p. 382, line 19). John held a gun to the victim inside the home. (R. p. 318, lines 3-13). Jacob aimed a taser at the victim. (R. p. 319, lines 15-21).

According to Martin, the attack caused the victim to attempt escape out the kitchen window, Jacob and Margaret tried to keep him from doing so, and John ran outside with his handgun and shot and killed the victim, who could be heard begging for his life. (R. p. 107, line 23 – p. 108, line 2; R. p. 320 line 14 – p. 322, line 15). The way the victim was found at the scene with his pants around his ankles corroborates Martin's account. (R. p. 160, lines 7-25; R. p. 371, line 11).

After the shooting Margaret, the matriarch of the family, cleaned up inside the home. (R. p. 323, lines 1-9). The forensic evidence corroborates that the scene was bloodied with the victim's blood and then wiped. (R. p. 174, line 20 – p. 175, line 6; R. p. 175, lines 9-12; R. p. 183, lines 12-25; R. p. 259, line 9 – p. 269, line 1; R. p. 274, lines 2-10).

Yet given this evidence, Jane's contemporaneous call to 911 stated that her husband had tried to kill her and "escaped" out the kitchen window. (State's Exhibit 94, file "(1) 01-24-2015 23.54.04 911-3.wav"). Jane made the call at Martin's intervention and behest. (R. p. 319, lines 6-8). However, before the dispatcher chimed in on the call, Jane can be heard instructing others in the house to "get him." (*Id.* at 0:42 to 0:47).

After the incident, Jane verbally indicated to Martin that she agreed to act in a certain way when she told Martin that "she did it because her dad hesitated. And that she did what she

had to do to protect her family.” (R. p. 324, lines 14-19).

Jane also took part in a family meeting with church member Christine Boisher the night before the killing, wherein Jane angrily stated that life “would be so much easier” if the victim was gone because she did not want him with the children. Boisher recalled that “everybody chuckled” in response to Jane’s statement. (R. p. 439, line 16 – p. 440, line 14). This was the second such meeting Jane and her family had with Boisher in which Jane expressed distress over the possibility of losing her children to the victim. (R. p. 438, lines 10-18). Moreover, Jane spoke freely to Martin in a manner indicating she did not want the victim in her and her children’s lives. (R. p. 331, lines 6-22).

Also by Martin’s account, John Hughes “regularly” discussed the concept of self-defense and the Castle Doctrine. (R. p. 329, lines 5-14). John also issued at least two “veiled threat[s]” to Martin, telling him prior to anyone’s arrest that “the police can’t know or don’t know what went on inside the house” so that “nobody would be in trouble.” (R. p. 328, lines 1-26; R. p. 329, lines 15 – p. 330, line 25).

The record contains substantial circumstantial evidence that members of the Hughes family agreed to act together to get rid of the victim in order to ensure he could not win the child custody battle. The circumstantial evidence fulfills the elements of the conspiracy charge. *State v. Buckmon, supra*. Evidenced by text messages, surveillance videos from the nearby bar and Waffle House, and Martin’s eyewitness account, Jacob lured Ferrell to the Hughes’s home to discuss the upcoming custody hearing. (R. p. 456, line 10 – p. 457, line 24). As described herein, Martin witnessed Jane, John, and Jacob act in concert to attack and ultimately kill the victim. It can additionally be adduced from the totality of this evidence that Jane and her family agreed to misrepresent what actually occurred in the home that night in an effort to claim immunity from

prosecution. Accordingly, the trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict as to conspiracy.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR ISSUE III

“[A] motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Graddick*, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001) (citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “The movant bears the burden to show satisfactory cause for removal.” *State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 372, 645 S.E.2d 233, 235 (2007). The motion is properly denied where the movant fails to demonstrate “his counsel had any divided loyalties or an actual conflict of interest.” *Id.*

III. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s motion to relieve counsel because Appellant failed to establish the existence of any actual conflict and because Appellant’s filing of disciplinary complaints and disagreement with counsel do not give cause to require the removal of counsel.

Three months prior to trial, defense counsel moved for a continuance and also to be relieved. The presiding judge granted a continuance because trial counsel was awaiting receipt of the transcript she had ordered from a co-defendant’s earlier trial. (R. p. 4, line 13 – p. 5, line 6). Moving to the motion to be relieved, defense counsel cited a conflict of interest which she attributed to complaints made by Appellant and others to the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC). Counsel was informed by a grouping of clients that “either Ms. Hughes or a direct member of her family” coerced the filing of “multiple bar complaints” concerning counsel’s representation. (R. p. 5, line 11 – p. 6, line 14). She enumerated that four complaints had been filed in a two-month period. (R. p. 6, lines 23-25). Crucially, by the time of the motion hearing, each of the disciplinary complaints had been ruled upon by ODC and, as represented by counsel, ODC issued “absolutely no finding whatsoever against” her. (R. p. 6, lines 15-20).

Appellant, however, denied encouraging other clients to file grievances. (R. p. 8, lines 7-13). Appellant asked that counsel be relieved on the basis that they had a difference of opinion over the calling of witnesses and their preparedness to proceed to trial. (R. p. 8, line 14 – p. 10, line 24).

The court denied the motion, but not until discussing (1) counsel's experience and "some measure of notoriety throughout the bar" as a successful criminal defense attorney; (2) that the court had continued the trial for a bit longer than 60 days so that counsel had time to receive and examine Appellant's co-defendant's trial transcript; (3) that Appellant's difference of opinion over trial strategy is "not in any way unethical behavior or deficient performance" by trial counsel; (4) that would be a "horrible detriment" to Appellant to change trial counsel at this juncture; (5) that a change in counsel would also put off trial for another period of time when the case was already three years old; and (6) and that further continuing the case to allow new counsel to get up to speed was contrary to Appellant's statement she was "ready for this to come to closure." (R. p. 11, line 3 – p. 15, line 21). The court also apologized to counsel for putting her in this position if Appellant indeed caused her harm. (R. p. 14, lines 12-20).

Appellant did not protest the court's ruling and appeared to agree to counsel's continued representation given the court's timeline of the impending trial, the court's recitation of confidence in current counsel's performance and ability to prepare for trial, and the court's instruction that Appellant "figure out ways to work with" and better communicate with current counsel. (R. p. 11, line 3 – 15, line 21). Likewise, counsel did not protest the ruling, nor did counsel any more succinctly define how the perceived conflict prohibited her from continuing to ethically and ardently represent Appellant. Instead, counsel asked for a trial date. (R. p. 15, lines 3-10).

Appellant's cited causes for removal of counsel do not form a basis for reversal. "An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's." *State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). "The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction." *Id.* (citing *Langford v. State*, 310 S.C. 357, 359, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993); *Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S.Ct. 1708 (1980) (right to conflict-free assistance of counsel). An actual conflict occurs ". . . when a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties" among two or more clients. *Duncan v. State*, 281 S.C. 435, 438, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984); Rule 1.7(a)(1), Rule 407, SCACR (concurrent conflict exists if "the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client").

A concurrent conflict may also exist if "there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by . . . a personal interest of the lawyer." Rule 1.7(a)(2), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. However, a lawyer may continue representation "notwithstanding the existence of a concurrent conflict of interest" so long as "the lawyer reasonably believes that the lawyer will be able to provide competent and diligent representation to each affected client . . ." Rule 1.7(b), Rule 407, SCACR.

In deciding whether to relieve counsel due to an actual conflict of interest,

the trial court must balance the need for the orderly administration of justice with the fact that an irreconcilable conflict exists between counsel and the accused. The court should consider the timing of the motion, the inconvenience to the witnesses, the period of time elapsed between the date of the alleged offense and the trial, and the possibility that any new counsel will be confronted with the same conflict.

Lucas v. State, 352 S.C. 1, 7, 572 S.E.2d 274, 277 (2002) (discussing conflict when counsel believes client intends perjury) (quoting *Matter of Goodwin*, 279 S.C. 274, 276-77, 305 S.E.2d

578, 579 (1983)).

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